
Brooklyn Board of Education
Special Meeting Agenda

Virtual & Central Office Community Room

May 24, 2023
6:00PM

Please click the link HERE to join the webinar:

Passcode: 701592 Webinar ID: 845 7671 3941

One tap mobile : +16469313860,,84576713941# US +13017158592,,84576713941# US (Washington DC)

Or Telephone: +1 646 931 3860 US +1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) +1 305 224 1968 US +1 309 205 3325
US +1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) +1 646 558 8656 US (New York)

Mission: The Brooklyn Schools will foster a drive for learning within each student to reach his/her greatest potential. To
achieve this mission, the school will continually improve its educational programs and services to meet this community's
expectations for a quality education for all.

To support public participation the documents will be posted on the  Town of Brooklyn Website as well as the  Brooklyn
Public Schools Website. You are encouraged to send questions or comments to  buell@brooklynschools.org prior to the
meeting.

1. Attendance, Establishment of a Quorum, Call to Order

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Public Comment

4. Approval of Minutes*
a. April 26, 2023

5. Correspondence and Communication
a. Woodstock Academy - May Head of School Awards

i. Madyson Knox
ii. Jason Konsavich
iii. Peishi Liu
iv. Mia Pannone
v. Davis Simpson

vi. Owen Tracy
b. Thank you -Rachel Blair & Neil Souvigney
c. Thank you - Walmart #5777
d. Letter from KHS American Citizen Classes
e. Important upcoming events

i. May 25, 2023 Chorus Concert
ii. May 29, 2023 Memorial Day, Brooklyn Parade at 9:00 AM
iii. June 8, 2023: BMS Music Trip
iv. June 12, 2023: BES Fun Day (rain date 6/14/23)
v. June 13, 2023: BMS Field Day

vi. June 15, 2023: 8th Grade Promotion
vii. June 16, 2023: 4th Grade Promotion
viii. June 16, 2023: Last Day of School, Early Release

https://us06web.zoom.us/j/84576713941?pwd=U2xtUW8vejh4M3kyd0FETmdBei9EQT09
https://www.brooklynct.org/
http://www.brooklynschools.org/
http://www.brooklynschools.org/
mailto:buell@brooklynschools.org
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1it0qRG1SDqSUF6v53ux7cuf_0G8VMDspTejZAYaugy0/edit?usp=sharing


6. Administrative Reports
a. Brooklyn Enrollment Report
b. FY23 Financial Reports
c. Brooklyn’s Best

7. Board of Education Committee Reports

8. Board Representatives to other Committees

9. Old Business
a. Second reading: Policy 9110

i. Proposed Policy 9110*

10. New Business
a. Review School Climate Surveys

11. Public Comment

12. Adjournment

*Action Item

BOESpecial Meeting May 24, 2023 Agenda - Page 2

https://docs.google.com/document/d/1UmXs3vozx6b7MnSxHrxC_kuOqRvfX0ZCaPKVXteXg3k/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/125qLa_TmDKs8Q_OnO1ybNCCXpazqwjiKV6Xl5Um2oBc/edit?usp=sharing
https://docs.google.com/document/d/1it0qRG1SDqSUF6v53ux7cuf_0G8VMDspTejZAYaugy0/edit?usp=sharing


The Board of Education
Town of Brooklyn
119 Gorman Road

Brooklyn, CT 06234

Mae Lyons, Board Chair Melissa Perkins-Banas, Vice-Chair
Justin Phaiah, Secretary Kayla Burgess
Isaias Sostre Rick Ives

Mission: The Brooklyn Schools will foster a drive for learning within each student to reach his/her
greatest potential. To achieve this mission, the school will continually improve its educational programs

and services to meet this community's expectations for a quality education for all.

The Brooklyn Board of Education held a meeting in the Central Office Community Room and
virtually on April 26, 2023 via Zoom. In attendance were Mrs. Lyons, Dr. Perkins-Banas, Mr.
Phaiah, Mrs. Burgess, and Mr. Ives and Mr. Sostre. Mrs. Buell, Superintendent was also present.

To support public participation the documents will be posted on the  Town of Brooklyn Website
as well as the  Brooklyn Public Schools Website.You are encouraged to send questions or
comments to  buell@brooklynschools.org prior to the meeting.

1. Attendance, Establishment of a Quorum, Call to Order

Mrs. Lyons stated that a Quorum has been established. Board members that were present:
Melissa Perkins-Banas, Justin Phaiah, Kayla Burgess, Rick Ives, Isaias Sostre and
herself, Mae Lyons.

Mrs. Lyons called the meeting to order at 7:00 p.m.

2. Pledge of Allegiance

3. Public Comment

Aimee Genna, Meadowbrook Drive, wanted to thank the Board of Education. She stated
she was at the Board of Finance meeting on Monday, April 24,2023, and the Board of
Education budget was accepted without question due to transparency and documentation
that had been provided. She wanted to say thank you to everyone that participated.

4. Approval of Minutes

a. March 22, 2023 BOE Regular Meeting Minutes

Motion to approve the Regular Meeting Minutes for March 22, 2023.
(Perkins-Banas/Burgess)

mailto:buell@brooklynschools.org


No discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

5. Correspondence and Communication

a. CAPPS Award Winners

Mrs. Buell wanted to recognize the Brooklyn students that are the CAPPS Award
Winners and introduced the four students in attendance tonight, Elliana Faucher
(4th Grade), Vincent Genna (4th Grade), Finley Hamilton (8th Grade) and Tomas
Gutierrez (8th Grade). Mrs. Buell read what the teachers had written about each
of the students and took a photo of the students with the Board.

b. Important Upcoming Events

Mrs. Buell discussed the following important upcoming events:

● May 8, 2023 - May 12, 2023: Staff/Teacher AppreciationWeek

Mrs. Buell stated that May 8, 2023 starts staff/teacher appreciation week.
She stated on behalf of the Brooklyn Board of Education, she will
recognize each employee and thank them for their service and hard work.

● May 10, 2023: 5:00 PM Informational Meeting for families regarding the
reunification protocol that would be used if there was ever a need

Mrs. Buell stated that May 10, 2023 is a parent event to discuss and
provide information about the reunification procedures at the Brooklyn
Public Schools. She stated if there is a crisis in the school and we need to
reunify, she wants parents to understand that the schools have a team that
have been working hard and there are procedures and plans in place.

● May 10, 2023: 7:00 PM Tentative Town Hearing to discuss the Town’s
Budget

Mrs. Buell stated that the tentative Town Hearing is scheduled for May 10,
2023. She stated that each department will present to share their budgets
and to respond to any questions the community may have.

Mrs. Lyons stated that the Town Hearing is where the community
comments count.

Ms. Burgess asked if line item changes can be made at the Town Hearing.
Mrs. Buell stated that line item changes cannot be made with the Board of



Education budget. They can request that the Board of Education reduce
their budget by a certain amount of money.

Mr. Ives stated that line item changes can be made on the Town’s budget.

Mrs. Lyons stated that the Board of Finance will meet after the Town
Hearing to discuss the comments and then changes can then be made.

● May 18, 2023: BES and BMS Art Shows
● May 21, 2023: PTO Golf Tournament
● May 24, 2023: 7:00 PM Tentative Town Meeting (Consider changing BOE

Meeting time)

Mrs. Buell stated that the Board of Education meeting is scheduled for the
same time as the Town Meeting on May 24, 2023 at 7:00 PM. She asked
the Board to consider changing the time of the Board meeting to either
6:00 PM or 7:30PM. After discussion, the Board agreed to change the
meeting time to 6:00 PM.

Ms. Burgess made a motion to change the Board of Education Meeting
time to 6:00 PM on May 24, 2023 due to the Town Meeting.
(Burgess/Perkins-Banas)
No discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Mrs. Buell will notify the Town Clerk of the change and the Board of
Education meeting will become a Special Board of Education meeting.

● May 29, 2023: Memorial Day, Brooklyn Parade at 9:00 AM
● May 31, 2023: Chorus Concert
● June 8, 2023: BMS Music Trip
● June 12, 2023: BES Field Day (rain date June 14, 2023)
● June 13, 2023: BMS Field Day
● June 15, 2023: 8th Grade Promotion (Tentative)
● June 16, 2023: 4th Grade Promotion (Tentative)
● June 16, 2023: Last Day of School, Early Release (Tentative)

Mr. Ives made a motion to set the 8th Grade Promotion date of June 15,
2023 and the 4th Grade Promotion date of June 16, 2023.
(Ives/Perkins-Banas)
No discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

6. Administrative Reports



a. Brooklyn Enrollment Report

Mrs. Buell discussed the enrollment report. Brooklyn Elementary School had no
changes. Brooklyn Middle School went up by 2. The high school enrollment went
down by 2. There is one additional Out of District student. The total enrollment is
minus one student.

b. FY23 Financial Reports

Mrs. Buell discussed the financial reports. She stated that she will be requesting a
budget transfer request due to not doing smaller requests throughout the year.
Mrs. Buell discussed the line item for salaries being over budget; the total benefits
line item and total professional services are under budget; the total contracted
services line is over budget. She stated she is confident that they will remain on
budget and end the year in the black.

c. BOE Transfer Request

Mrs. Buell discussed the budget transfer request to transfer funds from the high
school tuition and the unemployment line to the building maintenance and teacher
salaries line items for the amount of $197,420.31. She would like the Board to
approve to transfer $197,420.31 to offset the deficits.

Ms. Burgess made a motion to transfer $197,420.31 from the two lines identified
in the transfer report to cover the over expenditures.
(Burgess/Phaiah)
No discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

d. Brooklyn’s Best

BES
● Grade levels met with the intervention team to discuss student data. The

teams worked hard to develop groupings to meet the needs of all of the
children.

● Mr. March worked with the Arts for Learning Connecticut to bring some
wonderful assemblies to our students. The Arts for Learning Connecticut
is a statewide nonprofit providing creative, cultural, curricular-aligned arts
programming in schools across CT.

● Congratulations to Ms. Gardner for passing all of her TEAM
requirements! Well done!

BMS
● Good Cookie March 2023:

Grade 5: King/DS/Desabota: Avery Dumas



Carson/Nault: Madyson Schuck
Grade 6: Christopher Speranza, Sophia Nelson
Grade 7: Ian Thayer, Nina Purcell
Grade 8: Cora Hefner, Edward Purcell

● Planning a whole school Field Day
● Thank you to the PTO for supporting our Community Fitness Course by

purchasing meals for teachers on conference night!
● We have had a smooth start to Spring sports.
● Little Mermaid was a huge success! The students did an amazing job!

Thank you to Mrs. Dehls for a job well done supporting our students.
● Grade levels are planning end-of-year field trips.
● We had community volunteers that came in to speak to our 7th-grade

students regarding their immigration experiences. The students learned a
lot and were well-prepared for the panel.

● 4th Quarter after-school activities have started this week and we have over
40 students participating in addition to our athletes.

7. Board of Education Committee Reports

None to report

8. Board Representatives to Other Committees

Mr. Ives stated that the mill rate is going up by 1.123. He stated that the Board of
Finance had changed the Fire Department budgets slightly and at tonight’s meeting, the
Board of Finance set the May 10th and 24th for Town Meeting nights. Mr. Ives stated that
the Board of Finance is trying to get a 10% surplus in a reserve account, similar to a rainy
day fund such as an unexpected problem. He stated that this account had gotten very low
and if this budget passes it will be at 7.8%.

9. Old Business

None

10. New Business

a. Annual Healthy Food Certification Statement for School Year 2023-2024

Mrs Buell stated the Annual Healthy Food Certification statement is for the
reimbursement for meals and the Board of Education needs to make motions to
approve.

Motion 1:
Ms. Burgess made a motion: Pursuant to C.G.S. Section 10-215f, the Brooklyn
Board of Education or governing authority certifies that all food items offered for
sale to students in the schools under its jurisdiction, and not exempted for the



Connecticut Nutrition Standards published by the Connecticut State Department
of Education, will comply with the Connecticut Nutrition Standards during the
period of July 1, 2023 through June 30, 2024. This certification shall include all
food offered for sale to students separately from reimbursable meals at all times
and from all sources, including but not limited to school stores, vending
machines, school cafeterias, culinary programs, and any fundraising activities on
school premises sponsored by the school or non-school organizations and groups.
(Burgess/Phaiah)
No discussion
Vote Count: 5 in favor; 1 abstention

Mrs. Lyons: Yes
Dr. Perkins-Banas: Yes
Mr. Phaiah: Yes
Mrs. Burgess: Yes
Mr. Ives: Yes
Mr. Sostre: Abstention

Motion Granted: Yes

Motion 2:
Mr. Ives made a motion: The Board of Education or governing authority will
allow the sale to students of food items that do not meet the Connecticut Nutrition
Standards provided that the following conditions are met: 1.) the sale is in
connection with an event occurring after the end of the regular school day or on
the weekend; 2.) the sale is at the location of the event; and 3.) the food items are
not sold from a vending machine or school store. An “event” is an occurrence that
involves more than just a regularly scheduled practice, meeting, or extracurricular
activity. For example, soccer games, school plays, and interscholastic debates are
events but soccer practices, school rehearsals, and debate team meetings are not.
The “regular school day” is the period from midnight before to 30 minutes after
the end of the official school day. “Location” means where the event is being held
and must be the same place as the food sales.
(Ives/Phaiah)
No discussion
Vote Count: 5 in favor, 1 abstention

Mrs. Lyons: Yes
Dr. Perkins-Banas: Yes
Mr. Phaiah: Yes
Mrs. Burgess: Yes
Mr. Ives: Yes
Mr. Sostre: Abstention

Motion Granted: Yes

b. First Reading: Policy 9110



Mrs Buell stated Policy 9110, Bylaws of the Board of Education, is a first read for
the Board. She would like to have a few adjustments made to this policy once the
Board has time to review.

11. Public Comment

None

12. Adjournment

Motion to adjourn at 7:44 p.m.
(Perkins-Banas/Phaiah)
No Discussion
Vote Count: 6, 0
Unanimous vote to approve

Respectfully Submitted,

Donn� L . DiBenede��

Donna L. DiBenedetto
Board Clerk

____________________________________ _______________
Justin Phaiah, Board of Education Secretary Date





















**Enrollment Report 2022-2023

Brooklyn Public Schools Enrollment 2022-2023 05/18/2023
BES Grade 
Level, Sections Pre-K   K First Second Third Fourth Total
PK AM Class 1 18 18 17 18 19 16 106
PK PM Class 1 16 18 17 19 20 20 110
PK AM Class 2 15 18 16 18 20 20 107
PK PM Class 2 17 18 15 18 20 19 107
PK AM Class 3 17 15 18 20 18 88
PK PM Class 3 18

Total in person 101 72 80 91 99 93 534
Homeschooled 2 0 3 4 2 2 13

3
BMS Grade 

Level, Sections Fifth   Sixth Seventh Eighth Total
17 21 20 18 76
18 20 22 18 78
20 22 22 20 84
18 21 20 21 80
20 19 39

Total in person 93 84 103 77 - - 357
Homeschooled 2 3 5 7 17

High School Students Ninth Tenth Eleventh Twelfth Total
Woodstock 
Academy 67 41 53 57 218
Killingly High 
School 25 11 22 32 90
Killingly Ag 
Science 5 0 3 0 8
Plainfield High 
School 1 0 1 0 2
Parish Hill High 
School 0
Putnam High 
School 0 0 1 0 1
Griswold High 
School 0
Norwich Free 
Academy 1 2 2 6 11
Ellis Technical 
High School 9 13 16 17 55
Quinebaug 
Middle College 2 0 3 1 6
Act 0 0 0 0 0
**LEARN Magnet 
School 0 0 0 0 0
Total by Grade 110 67 101 113 391

OUT OF DISTRICT STUDENTS (not counted in totals above) 18

TOTAL BROOKLYN STUDENT ENROLLMENT PK-21 1300
Total Enrollment Sept Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun
2017-18 1314 1314 1311 1304 1310 1312 1311 1318 1319 1320
2018-19 1332 1336 1327 1326 1325 1325 1320 1333 1338 1339
2019-20 1342 1343 1344 1345 1348 1342 COVID last day 3/13/2020
2020-2021 
(COVID, In/Opt 
Out) 1260 1242 1243 1246 1245 1227 1230 1244 1251 1251
2021-22 1258.5 1270.5 1275.5 1282.5 1281.5 1280.5 1282.5 1279.5 1281.5 1283.5
2022-2023 1305 1298 1294 1291 1290 1292 1302 1303 1300

Homeschooled 
20-21 30 35 47 30 50 61 61 53 53 53
21-22 19 22
22-23 32 20 22 22 24 27 27 27 30

Sept June
2017-18 1314 1320
2018-19 1332 1339
2019-20 1342 1342
2020-2021* 1260 1251
2021-22 1274 1283.5
2022-2023 1305







Ma�

Brooklyn’s Best

Brooklyn Elementary School

● Mrs. Corbin, Mrs. Minarik, Ms. Rainville, Mr. Osborn and Ms. Caulfield have all recently completed
TEAM!

● Positive Office Referrals: Many students have been receiving referrals for making great choices and
being Big-Hearted, Engaged, Acting Safely and being Respectful. The students (and their teachers) are
VERY proud!

● SBAC is underway and our students are doing an amazing job. Even our younger students are showing
their support by creating posters and notes of encouragement for the third and fourth grade students.

● Mrs. Langevin provided an outstanding professional development to our staff on the early release day
to give them a glimpse into our new reading intervention program that is aligned with mClass which is
part of the K-3 state approved universal screen list. Her passion for reading intervention was
contagious!

● Our art teachers have put so much love and time into the Art Show. We cannot wait to see the event
and all the student masterpieces.

Brooklyn Middle School

Good Cookie March

5th Grade King/DS/Desabota: Avery Dumas Carson/Nault: Madyson Schuck

6th Grade Christopher Speranza Sophia Nason

7th Grade Ian Thayer Nina Purcell

8th Grade Cora Hefner Edward Purcell

Good Cookie April

5th Grade King/DS/Desabota: Carson/Nault: Connor Saez

6th Grade Henry Goodwin Aislynn Hassett



7th Grade Olivia Devolve Melanie Dipippo

8th Grade Mikey Sarkis Jayliana Camacho

● Thank you to Mrs. Paille for collaborating with Mrs. Gatlin to plan a district-wide Art Show for families.
● 5th and 6th Grade Movie Night was well attended with almost 80 students. Thank you to the staff and

Student Council members that stayed after school to facilitate and supervise the event.
● 7th and 8th Grade Dance was well attended with over 100 students. Thank you to the staff that stayed

to chaperone the event. The students did a great job planning and decorating for the event.
● Our baseball and softball teams had a successful season of growth and development. Thank you to Mr.

Gadomski and Mr. Rewers for your work with our students.
● Thank you to Mrs. Kozey and Ms. Mackewicz for a successful Track and Field season.
● Congratulations to Track and Field Qualifiers for the State Championship:

○ Emelia Langevin (1600m & 800m)
○ Aris Roane (400m, long jump & 200m)
○ Mikey Sarkis (shot put & discus)
○ Ayden Daigle (shot put)
○ Cogan Gosselin (discus)
○ Avery Schaefer (400m)
○ Reagan Scheck (shot put & discus)
○ Kai Brailsford (100m)
○ Kendall Ternowcheck (long jump)
○ Nina Purcell (400m)
○ Kai Brailsford, Ryael Riche & Aiden Daigle (4x4 relay)

● Third Quarter 2022 2023 Lions Club Award Recipients:
○ 5th: Aliya Asante
○ 6th: Kaydence Saucier
○ 7th: Carlita Herrera

Brooklyn's Best - Page 2





9110
Bylaws of the Board

Number of Members, Terms of Office, Oath of Office

The Board of Education shall continue to consist of six members. Pursuant to Connecticut
General Statutes § 9-206(b), three members of the Board of Education shall be elected for a
term of four years.

Terms of Office

The term of office of the members of the Board of Education shall begin on the Tuesday two
weeks after the day of the Town Election, and shall continue until their successors have been
elected and have qualified, except in case of removal as provided in Bylaw 9222.

Bylaw adopted by the Board: May 24, 2023

Ref: Town of Brooklyn Ordinance, 2-27.1 Terms of Office of the Members



2022-2023 BES Parent Guardian School
Climate Survey Results

Page 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



2022-2023 BES Grades 3-4 School Climate Survey Results

Page 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



2022-2023 BES Staff Climate Survey Results

Page 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



 2022-2023 BMS Parent/Guardian 
 School Climate Survey Results 

 Page  1 



 Page  2 



 Page  3 



 Page  4 



 Page  5 



 Page  6 



 Page  7 



 Page  8 



 Page  9 



 Page  10 



 Page  11 



2022-2023 BMS Grade 5 Climate Survey Results

Page 1



2



3



4



5



6



7



8



9



10



11



12



13



14



2022-2023 BMS Grades 6-8 School Climate Survey Results

Page 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18



2022-2023 BMS Staff Climate Survey Results

Page 1



Page 2



Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Page 7



Page 8



Page 9



Page 10



Page 11



Page 12



Page 13



Page 14



Page 15



Page 16



Page 17



Page 18


